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Statement of Management’s Responsibilities
The Bank of Nova Scotia- Guyana Branch

Management is responsible for the following:

• Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of The Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana 
Branch (Scotiabank or the Bank), which comprise the statement of financial position as at October 31, 2021, the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;

• Ensuring that Scotiabank keeps proper accounting records;

• Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

• Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of Scotiabank’s 
assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Scotiabank’s operational efficiencies;

• Ensuring that the system of internal controls operated effectively during the reporting period;

• Producing reliable financial reporting that complies with laws and regulations, including the Companies Act; and

• Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Guyana. 
Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose 
those considered most appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that Scotiabank will not remain a going concern for the 
next twelve months from the date the accompanying financial statements have been authorised for issue. 

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

  
Nafeeza Gaffoor    
Country Manager (ag) 

Date: December 31, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Directors of The Bank of Nova Scotia- Guyana Branch
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Bank of Nova Scotia –Guyana Branch, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at October 31, 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Bank as at October 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to:
(i) Note 25 (b) (ii), which explains that the Guyana Revenue Authority (GRA) has issued additional assessment for 

Corporation Tax liability of $1,122,791,107 for the years of assessment 2011 to 2017. The Bank has appealed the GRA’s 
assessment. Based on professional advised, an amount of $12,348,835 was provided for. No further provision has 
been recognised in these financial statements for the effect of the additional assessment, as management believes 
that the appeal will be successful. 

(ii) Note 1, which explains that the Bank of Nova Scotia is currently pursuing the disposal of its interest in Bank of Nova 
Scotia Guyana Branch, subject to receipt of all applicable regulatory approval. Adjustments, if any, have not been 
made to these financial statements for the effect of such a transaction.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Guyana, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Going Concern
The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. The use of this basis 
of accounting is appropriate unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. As part of our audit of the financial statements, we have concluded that management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Bank’s financial statements is appropriate. 
Management has not identified a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, and accordingly none is disclosed in the financial statements. Based on our audit of the financial 
statements, we also have not identified such a material uncertainty. However, neither management nor the auditor can 
guarantee the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they can reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements, continued

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We are also required to provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
The financial statements comply with the requirements of the Financial Institutions Act 1995 and the Companies Act 1991.

Chartered Accountants
Georgetown, Guyana

December 31, 2021
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THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA – GUYANA BRANCH

Statement of Financial Position
October 31, 2021  ($ thousands)

 Notes 2021 2020
  
ASSETS
Cash on hand and in transit  1,896,329 1,118,610
Due from banks and related companies 5 21,347,428 18,971,108
Deposits with Central Bank 6 6,990,488 7,063,535
Investment securities 7 825,361 6,578,453
Loans to customers 8.1 48,608,164 48,320,315
Assets classified as held for sale 9 28,028 28,028
Property and equipment 10 868,644 908,571
Deferred tax asset 15.1 268,069 568,165

Other assets 11    280,105 374,560 

Total assets  81,112,616 83,931,345

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 12.1 64,145,069 67,127,896
Due to banks and other related companies 13 1,055,944 1,146,904
Taxation payable  12,349 135,556
Deferred tax liability 15.1 2,850 15,181
Other liabilities 14 2,643,920 1,858,312

Total liabilities  67,860,132 70,283,849

CAPITAL AND EQUITY
Assigned capital 16 251,327 251,327
Other capital 17 801,700 801,700
Statutory reserve fund 18 251,400 251,400
Investment revaluation reserve  4,589 23,554
Retained earnings  11,943,468 12,319,515

Total capital and equity  13,252,484 13,647,496

Total Liabilities, Capital and Equity  81,112,616 83,931,345

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Country Manager on December 31, 2021 and signed accordingly:

____________________  
Nafeeza Gaffoor
Country Manager (ag)  
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THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA – GUYANA BRANCH

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended October 31, 2021 ($ thousands)

   Notes 2021 2020
  
REVENUE

Interest income 20 4,424,331 4,854,788
Interest expense 21 230,236 229,944
Net interest income  4,194,095 4,624,844

Other income  2,940,107 2,724,462
Fee and commission expense (553,885) (458,706)
Net other income 22 2,386,222 2,265,756
Total revenue  6,580,317 6,890,600

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES
Salaries and other staff benefits  834,261 895,874
Premises and technology  785,880 757,877
Communication and marketing  96,469 109,277
Other expenses   23 1,225,695 1,181,880
Total non-interest expenses  2,942,305 2,944,908
Net impairment loss on financial assets  8.9 392,407 1,715,664
Profit before taxation  3,245,605 2,230,028
Income tax expense  24.1 (1,373,468) (894,439)

Profit for the year 1,872,137 1,335,589

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
 to profit or loss

Expected credit losses on deposits with banks at FVTOCI    (486) (27)
Expected credit losses on investment securities at FVTOCI    16 251 
Fair value re-measurement of investments at FVTOCI (30,826) 10,139
Related tax 24.3 12,331 (4,055)

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, net of tax (18,965) 6,308

Total comprehensive income 1,853,172 1,341,897

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA - GUYANA BRANCH      
       
Statement of Changes in Equity       
       
For the year ended October 31, 2021 ($ thousands)
       
    Other     Investment   
   Assigned Capital    Statutory Revaluation   Retained    
 Capital Reserve Reserve Reserve Earnings   Total 
       
Year ended October 31, 2021       
       
Balance as at October 31, 2020  251,327   801,700    251,400 23,554   12,319,515   13,647,496 
       
Net Income for the period  -     -     -     -        1,872,137   1,872,137 
       
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax       
Revaluation of FVTOCI/AFS  -     -     -     (18,479)  -     (18,479)
       
Revaluation of Deposits with Bank at FVTOC  -     -     -     (486)  -     (486)
       
Withholding Tax  -     -     -      -     (448,184)  (448,184)
       
Transfer of Profits  -     -     -     -     (1,800,000)  (1,800,000)
       
Balance as at October 31, 2021  251,327   801,700   251,400   4,589   11,943,468   13,252,484 
       
       
Year ended October 31, 2020       
       
Balance as at October 31, 2019  251,327   801,700    251,400   17,771   11,348,409   12,670,607 
       
Cumulative effect of IFRS 9  -     -      (525)  -     (525)
       
Adjusted balance  251,327   801,700    251,400   17,246   11,348,409   12,670,082 
       
Net Income for the period  -     -     -     -      1,335,589   1,335,589 
       
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax       
Revaluation of FVTOCI/AFS  -     -     -      6,335   -     6,335 
       
Revaluation of Deposits with Bank at FVTOC  -     -     -     (27)  -     (27)
       
Withholding Tax  -     -     -     -     (364,483)  (364,483)

Balance as at October 31, 2020  251,327   801,700    251,400   23,554   12,319,515   13,647,496 
       
       
       
       
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.    
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THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA – GUYANA BRANCH

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended October 31, 2021 ($ thousands)

   Notes 2021 2020
  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax   3,245,605 2,230,028
Adjustments for:
- Interest income 20 (4,424,331) (4,854,788)
- Interest expense 21 230,236 229,944
- Depreciation and amortisation 10 172,656 172,104
- Loss on disposal of property and equipment   2,588    -     
Changes in:
- Right of use asset  (81,152)  48,333
- Deposits with Central Bank  73,047 56,674
- Loans to customers  222,613 (2,410,178)
- Allowance for credit losses  (730,878) 1,166,684
- Other assets  78,951 207,085
- Deposits from customers  (2,981,397) 10,496,796
- Other liabilities  785,608 458,454
- Due to banks and related companies  (91,446) 102,441 
- Interest received  4,674,254 4,521,942
- Interest paid  (231,665) (230,865)
- Taxation paid  (1,210,583) (1,744,350)

Net cash from operating activities  (265,894) 10,450,304

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Change in investments securities  5,722,282 (3,029,880) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  1,400
Purchase of property and equipment  10 (55,565) (449,136)

Net cash (used in) from investing activities  5,668,117 (3,479,016)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Remittances including withholding tax  (2,248,184) (364,483)

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,248,184) (364,483)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,154,039 6,606,805

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 20,089,718 13,482,913

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 23,243,757 20,089,718

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REPRESENTED BY  

Cash on hand and in transit 1,896,329 1,118,610
Due from banks and related companies 5 21,347,428 18,971,108

  23,243,757 20,089,718

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31, 2021 ($ thousands)

1. Incorporation and Business Activities

The Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana Branch (Scotiabank or The Bank) was registered on September 23, 1968 as a 
branch of The Bank of Nova Scotia, which is incorporated in Canada. During 1997, the Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana 
Branch obtained a Certificate of Continuance under the Companies Act of 1991.

The Bank offers a complete range of banking and financial services and operates under the provisions of the 
Financial Institutions Act 1995.

On September 14, 2005 the Bank was designated an approved mortgage finance company in accordance with 
Section 15 of the Income Tax Act Chapter 81:01.

The Bank of Nova Scotia is currently pursuing disposing of its interest in Bank of Nova Scotia Guyana Branch subject 
to receipt of all applicable regulatory approvals. The Bank of Nova Scotia Guyana Branch has made the application 
for approval and is awaiting a response from Central Bank.        
 

2. Basis of Preparation
(a) Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

(b) Basis of measurement
These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, modified for the inclusion of:

- investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

- investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

- equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.
(c) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in these financial statements of  Scotiabank are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the bank operates (‘the functional currency’).These financial statements 
are presented in Guyana dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand, which is Scotiabank’s functional and 
presentation currency.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

 The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in the financial statements and are set out below:

(a) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to Scotiabank and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured 
as the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 
payment and excluding taxes or duties. Scotiabank has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue 
arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude and is also 
exposed to credit risk.

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised.
       • Interest income

Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for financial assets measured at amortised cost 
calculated on an effective interest basis, other than non-accrual loans. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the 
financial assets (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset and is 
not revised subsequently.  When calculating the effective interest rate, Scotiabank estimates the future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not the future credit losses.
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When a loan is classified as non-accrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the 
current period.  Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to performing status.

Scotiabank calculation of the effective interest rate includes all material fees received, transaction costs, 
discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset.

      • Other income

Other income comprises various fees and commissions, trading income and premium income. Fees and 
commissions that are material to the effective interest rate on a financial asset is included in the measurement 
of the effective interest rate.

      • Deposit and payment services

Scotiabank provides deposit and payment services to retail and commercial customers. Revenue from account 
servicing fees is recognised over time as the services are provided. Transaction based fees are charged to the 
customer’s account and recognised when the transaction takes place. 

      • Card revenues

Scotiabank offers a full suite of credit cards for retail and commercial customers for their cash management 
and financing needs. Revenues include cardholder fees, interchange fees and merchant fees. Revenues are 
mainly transaction based and recognised when the card transaction takes place.

      • Credit fees

Scotiabank Branch provides working capital financing and trade services including bankers’ acceptances and 
letters of credit. Transaction based fees are recognised when the transaction takes place. Loan origination 
fees are recognised over the term of the loan unless immaterial.

      • Other fees and commissions

Other fees and commissions are recognised in income as the related services are performed. 

(b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the transaction date.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into 
the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  Resulting translation differences 
and profits and losses from trading activities are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and other 
comprehensive income.

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash resources, loans and 
advances to banks and related companies, investment securities including treasury bills and loans to 
customers, deposits from customers and deposits from banks, subsidiaries and other related parties. 

The standard treatment for recognition, de-recognition, classification and measurement of Scotiabank’s 
financial instruments is set out below in notes (i) – (iv),whilst additional information on specific categories of 
Scotiabank’s financial instruments are disclosed in notes 3(d), 3(h) and 3(k).

(i) Recognition
  Scotiabank initially recognises loans and advances and deposits on the date that they are originated.  

All other financial assets and financial liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss) are initially recognised on the trade date which is the date on which Scotiabank 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. For financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs are recognised immediately in the statement of profit or 
loss other comprehensive income.
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(ii)	 Classification	and	measurement
Scotiabank classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories: fair value 
through profit or loss; fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and amortised cost.  
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Financial assets 
and financial liabilities include both debt and equity instruments.

Classification of debt instruments is determined based on the business model under which the asset is 
held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

  Business model assessment

  Business model assessment involves determining how financial assets are managed in order to generate 
cash flows. Scotiabank’s business model assessment is based on the following categories:

• Held to collect: The objective of the business model is to hold assets and collect contractual cash 
flows. Any sales of the asset are incidental to the objective of the model :

• Held to collect and for sale: Both collecting contractual cash flows and sales are integral to achieving 
the objectives of the business model ;

• Other business model: The business model is neither held-to-collect nor held-to collect and for sale.

Scotiabank assesses business models at a portfolio level reflective of how groups of assets are managed 
together to achieve a particular business objective. For the assessment of a business model, Scotiabank 
takes into consideration the following factors:

• How the performance of assets in a portfolio is evaluated and reported to heads and other key 
decision makers within Scotiabank’s business lines;

• How compensation is determined for Scotiabank’s business lines’ management that manages the 
assets;

• Whether the assets are held for trading purposes i.e., assets that Scotiabank acquires or incurs 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or holds as part of a portfolio 
that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking;

• The risks that affect the performance of assets held within a business model and how those risks are 
managed; and

• The frequency and volume of sales in prior periods and expectations about future sales activity.

  Contractual cash flow characteristics assessment

  The contractual cash flow characteristics assessment involves assessing the contractual features 
of an instrument to determine if they give rise to cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement if they represent 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(SPPI).

  
  Principal is defined as the fair value of the instrument at initial recognition. Principal may change over 

the life of the instrument due to repayments or amortisation of premium/discount.
  
  Interest is defined as the consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated 

with the principal amount outstanding and for other basic lending risks and costs (liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), and a profit margin.

If Scotiabank identifies any contractual features that could significantly modify the cash flows of the 
instrument such that they are no longer consistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related 
financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.
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Debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. After initial measurement, debt instruments in this category are 
carried at amortised cost. Interest income on these instruments is recognised in interest income using 
the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount 
of a financial asset. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition, transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortised cost is calculated using the expected credit 
loss approach. Loans and debt securities measured at amortised cost are presented net of the allowance 
for credit losses (ACL) in the statement of financial position.

Debt instruments measured at FVOCI

Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they are held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling financial assets, where the assets’ cash 
flows represent payments that are solely payments of principal and interest. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, unrealized gains and losses on debt instruments measured at FVOCI are recorded in other 
comprehensive income (OCI), unless the instrument is designated in a fair value hedge relationship. 
When designated in a fair value hedge relationship, any changes in fair value due to changes in the 
hedged risk are recognised in other income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. Upon derecognition, realised gains and losses are reclassified from OCI and recorded in other 
income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses that relate to the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Premiums, discounts and related transaction costs are 
amortised over the expected life of the instrument to interest income in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit loss 
approach. The ACL on debt instruments measured at FVOCI does not reduce the carrying amount 
of the asset in the statement of financial position, which remains at its fair value. Instead, an amount 
equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in 
OCI with a corresponding charge to net impairment loss on financial assets in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. The accumulated allowance recognised in OCI is recycled 
to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon derecognition of the debt 
instrument.

Debt instruments measured at FVTPL

Debt instruments are measured at FVTPL if assets:

i) Are held for trading purposes;

ii) Are held as part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis; or

iii) Whose cash flows do not represent payments that are solely payments of principal and interest.

These instruments are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction 
costs recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as 
part of other income. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are recognised as part of other income 
in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Equity instruments measured at FVTPL 

Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless an election is made to designate them at FVOCI 
upon purchase, with transaction costs recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as part of other income. Subsequent to initial recognition the changes in 
fair value are recognised as part of other income in the statement of profit or loss.
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Equity instruments measured at FVOCI

At initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option for Scotiabank to classify non-trading equity instruments 
at FVOCI. This election is used for certain equity investments for strategic or longer term investment purposes. 
This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is not available to equity instruments that 
are held for trading purposes.
Gains and losses on these instruments including when derecognised/sold are recorded in OCI and are not 
subsequently reclassified to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. As such, there 
is no specific impairment requirement. As at October 31 2021, there were no equity instruments recognised. 

Financial liabilities

Scotiabank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and undrawn loan 
commitments, as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Determination of fair value

Fair value of a financial asset or liability is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal, or in its absence, the most 
advantageous market to which Scotiabank has access at the measurement date.

 Scotiabank values instruments carried at fair value using quoted market prices, where available. Unadjusted 
quoted market prices for identical instruments represent a Level 1 valuation. When quoted market prices 
are not available, Scotiabank maximises the use of observable inputs within valuation models. When all 
significant inputs are observable, the valuation is classified as Level 2. Valuations that require the significant 
use of unobservable inputs are considered Level 3.

Inception gains and losses are only recognised where the valuation is dependent only on observable market 
data, otherwise, they are deferred and amortised over the life of the related contract or until the valuation 
inputs become observable.

(iii)	 			Derecognition
Scotiabank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows from the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred or in which Scotiabank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and the sum of:

(i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed); and

(ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Scotiabank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired. 

(iv) Offsetting
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, Scotiabank has a current legally enforceable right to set off the 
amounts and it intends to either settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

  
  Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses 

arising from a group of similar transactions 
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(d) Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and in transit, deposits with banks and related companies 

and short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased. The carrying 
value approximates the fair value due to its highly liquid nature and the fact that it is readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash on hand and is subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

(e) Impairment of financial assets
 Scotiabank applies a three-stage approach to measure allowance for credit losses, using an expected credit 

loss approach as required under IFRS 9, for the following categories of financial instruments that are not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
•  Amortised cost financial assets;
•  Debt securities classified as at FVOCI;
•  Off-balance sheet loan commitments; and
•  Financial guarantee contracts.

(i)		Expected	credit	loss	impairment	model
Scotiabank’s allowance for credit losses calculations are outputs of models with a number of underlying 
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The expected credit 
loss impairment model reflects the present value of all cash shortfalls related to default events either 
(i) over the following twelve months or (ii) over the expected life of a financial instrument depending 
on credit deterioration from inception. The allowance for credit losses reflects an unbiased, probability-
weighted outcome which considers multiple scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts.

This impairment model measures credit loss allowances using a three-stage approach based
on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:
 • Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SIR) since initial recognition 

of a financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The 
expected credit loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. 
For those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default 
corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.

 • Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SIR subsequent to origination but is not 
considered to be in default, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected 
credit loss based on the probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial 
instrument.

 • Stage 3 – Financial instruments that are considered to be in default are included in this stage. 
Similar to Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses.

(ii)	Measurement	of	expected	credit	loss
The probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD) inputs used to estimate 
expected credit losses are modelled based on macroeconomic variables that are most closely related with 
credit losses in the relevant portfolio. Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:

 • PD – The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. 
A default may only happen at a certain time over the remaining estimated life, if the facility has 
not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

 • EAD – The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking 
into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments 
of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on 
committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

 • LGD – The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs 
at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those 
that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually 
expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
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(iii)	 Forward-looking	information
The estimation of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in credit 
risk consider information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable 
forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking 
information may require significant judgment.

(iv)	 Macroeconomic	factors
In its models, Scotiabank relies on a broad range of forward-looking economic information as inputs, such 
as: GDP growth, unemployment rates and central-bank interest rates. The inputs and models used for 
calculating expected credit losses may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of 
the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays may be made as temporary 
adjustments using expert credit judgment.

(v)	 Multiple	forward-looking	scenarios
Scotiabank determines its allowance for credit losses using three probability-weighted forward-looking 
scenarios. Scotiabank considers both internal and external sources of information and data in order to 
achieve unbiased projections and forecasts. Scotiabank prepares the scenarios using forecasts generated 
by Scotiabank Economics (SE). The forecasts are created using internal and external models which are 
modified by SE as necessary to formulate a ‘base case’ view of the most probable future direction of 
relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The 
process involves the development of two additional economic scenarios and consideration of the relative 
probabilities of each outcome.
The ‘base case’ represents the most likely outcome and is aligned with information used by Scotiabank for 
other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more optimistic 
and more pessimistic outcomes. Scotiabank has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk 
and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has 
estimated relationships between macroeconomic variables, credit risk, and credit losses.

(vi)	 Assessment	of	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	(SIR)
At each reporting date, Scotiabank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected 
life from the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers borrower-specific 
quantitative and qualitative information without consideration of collateral, and the impact of forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.

The common assessments for SIR on retail and non-retail portfolios include macroeconomic outlook, 
management judgment, and delinquency and monitoring. Forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
are a key component of the macroeconomic outlook. The importance and relevance of each specific 
macroeconomic factor depends on the type of product, characteristics of the financial instruments and 
the borrower and the geographical region. Quantitative models may not always be able to capture all 
reasonable and supportable information that may indicate a significant increase in credit risk. Qualitative 
factors may be assessed to supplement the gap. Examples of situations include changes in adjudication 
criteria for a particular group of borrowers; changes in portfolio composition; and natural disasters impacting 
certain portfolios. With regards to delinquency and monitoring, there is a rebuttable presumption that the 
credit risk of the financial instrument has increased since initial recognition when contractual payments 
are more than 30 days overdue.

Retail portfolio – For retail exposures, a significant increase in credit risk cannot be assessed using forward 
looking information at an individual account level. Therefore, the assessment must be done at the segment 
level. Segment migration thresholds exist for each PD model by product which considers the proportionate 
change in PD as well as the absolute change in PD. The thresholds used for PD migration are reviewed and 
assessed at least annually, unless there is a significant change in credit risk management practices in which 
case the review is brought forward.

Non-retail portfolio – Scotiabank uses a risk rating scale (IG codes) for its non-retail exposures. All non-retail 
exposures have an IG code assigned that reflects the probability of default of the borrower. Both borrower 
specific and non-borrower specific (i.e. macroeconomic) forward looking information is considered and 
reflected in the IG rating. Significant increase in credit risk is evaluated based on the migration of the 
exposures among IG codes.
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(vii) Expected life
When measuring expected credit loss, Scotiabank considers the maximum contractual period over which 
Scotiabank is exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected 
life, including prepayment, and extension and rollover options. For certain revolving credit facilities, such 
as credit cards, the expected life is estimated based on the period over which Scotiabank is exposed to 
credit risk and how the credit losses are mitigated by management actions.

(viii)	Presentation	of	allowance	for	credit	losses	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position
• Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 

financial assets;

• Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: no allowance is 
recognised in the statement of financial position because the carrying value of these assets is their fair 
value. However, the allowance determined is presented in the accumulated other comprehensive income.

• Off-balance sheet credit risks include undrawn lending commitments, letters of credit and letters of 
guarantee: as a provision in other liabilities.

(ix)	 Modified	financial	assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one, 
an assessment is made to determine if the existing financial asset should be derecognised. Where a 
modification does not result in derecognition, the date of origination continues to be used to determine 
SIR. Where a modification results in derecognition, the new financial asset is recognised at its fair value 
on the modification date. The modification date is also the date of origination for this new asset.

Scotiabank may modify the contractual terms of loans for either commercial or credit reasons. The 
terms of a loan in good standing may be modified for commercial reasons to provide competitive pricing 
to borrowers. Loans are also modified for credit reasons where the contractual terms are modified to 
grant a concession to a borrower that may be experiencing financial difficulty.

For all financial assets modifications of the contractual terms may result in derecognition of the original 
asset when the changes to the terms of the loans are considered substantial. These terms include interest 
rate, authorised amount, term, or type of underlying collateral. The original loan is derecognised and the 
new loan is recognised at its fair value. The difference between the carrying value of the derecognised 
asset and the fair value of the new asset is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

For all loans, performing and credit-impaired, where the modification of terms did not result in the 
derecognition of the loan, the gross carrying amount of the modified loan is recalculated based on 
the present value of the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate and any 
gain or loss from the modification is recorded in the net impairment loss on financial assets line in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(x)	 Definition	of	default
Scotiabank considers a financial instrument to be in default as a result of one or more loss events that 
occurred after the date of initial recognition of the instrument and the loss event has a negative impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the instrument that can be reliably estimated. This includes events 
that indicate:

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower:
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
• high probability of the borrower entering a phase of bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation;
• measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loan or the underlying assets that 

back the loan.

Scotiabank considers that default has occurred and classifies the financial asset as impaired when it is 
more than 90 days past due, with the exception of credit card receivables that are treated as defaulted 
when 180 days past due, unless reasonable and supportable information demonstrates that a more 
lagging default criterion is appropriate.
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(xi)	 Write-off	policy

Scotiabank writes off an impaired financial asset (and the related impairment allowance), either partially 
or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where financial assets are secured, write-off 
is generally after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In circumstances where the 
net realisable value of any collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of 
further recovery, write-off may be earlier. Credit card receivables 180 days past due are written-off. In 
subsequent periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the net impairment 
loss on financial assets shown in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

In 2021, the Bank introduced a formal Small Business write-off policy; which will guide non-accrual and 
bad debt processing of Small Business Lending. The policy requires write-off of Small Business receivables 
under the following conditions; unsecured and 180 days past due, mortgage secured non-accrual (NAL) 
status and 60 months past due and secured other than  mortgages NAL status and 24 months past due. 
Since the implementation of the policy, Small Business delinquent accounts; which were previously fully 
provisioned for, were written-off to the tune of GYD $601M in fiscal 2021. Implementation of this policy 
did not impact the ECL.

(f) Property and equipment

(i)	 Recognition	and	measurement
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other cost directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. Purchased software that is 
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. Scotiabank 
has not incurred any significant expenditure on software that is not an integral part of related hardware 
as classified under property and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised within other income in 
the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

(ii)	 Subsequent	cost
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 
Scotiabank over a period exceeding one year and its cost can be measured reliably. The cost of the day-
to-day servicing of property and equipment is recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income as incurred.

(iii)	 Depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation are provided, on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives 
of the respective assets at the following rates:

Buildings - 40 years
Equipment and furniture - 5 to 10 years
Motor Vehicles - 5 years
Leasehold improvements - 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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(g) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

(i) As a lessee 

The Bank recognises a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. A ROU asset represents a lessee’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. The ROU 
asset is initially measured at cost, which is based on the initial amount of the lease liability, and any 
direct costs incurred, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of lease 
incentives received, and estimated decommissioning costs.

The ROU asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. The ROU asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease 
term. The depreciation is recorded in depreciation and amortisation in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. In addition, the ROU asset is adjusted for certain re-measurements 
of the lease liability.

At commencement date, the Bank initially measures the lease liability at the present value of the future 
lease payments, discounted using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. The Bank’s discount rate is 
based on the borrowing rate on its debt of different maturities that match the term of the lease. The 
discount rate is also dependent on the Bank’s credit risk and economic environment in which the lease 
is entered. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It 
is re-measured if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option. When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment 
is made to the carrying amount of the ROU asset, or is recorded in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 
zero.

The Bank presents ROU assets in “Property and equipment” and lease liabilities in “Other liabilities” in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Bank has elected not to recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of assets 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Bank recognises the 
lease payment associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term

(ii)	 Determining	lease	term

The Bank’s expectation of exercising the option to renew a lease is determined by assessing if the 
Bank is “reasonably certain” to exercise that option. The Bank will be reasonably certain to exercise 
an option when factors create a significant economic incentive to do so. This assessment requires 
a significant level of judgement as it is based on current expectations of future decisions. The Bank 
considers the following criteria when determining whether it has an economic incentive that makes it 
reasonably certain to exercise an option: key locations for its branch network, locations on which the 
Bank has spent significant capital on renovation work, contribution to profit, value of locations based 
on current economic environment and the remaining term of existing leases.
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(h) Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current tax and the change in deferred tax.  It is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in OCI. Current tax 
comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the taxable income for the year, using the tax rate enacted 
at the reporting date and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except differences relating to the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities which affect neither accounting nor taxable income (loss).  Net deferred 
tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled.  The effect on deferred tax of any changes in the tax rate is charged to the 
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly 
to equity.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, Scotiabank considers the impact of tax exposures, 
including whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgment about future events. New information may become 
available that causes Scotiabank to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; 
such changes to tax liabilities would impact income tax expense in the period in which such a determination 
is made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which they can be used.

(i) Employee benefits
(i)	 Short-term

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by Scotiabank in exchange for service rendered 
by employees.  These include current or short-term benefits such as salaries, bonuses, NIS contributions, 
annual leave, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care and loans; post-employment benefits 
such as pensions; and other long-term employee benefits such as termination benefits.

Employee benefits that are earned as a result of past or current service are recognised in the following 
manner: short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability, net of payments made, and charged 
as an expense.  Post-employment benefits are accounted for as described below.

(ii)	 Post-employment
Scotiabank operates a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering the majority of its 
employees.  The funds of the plan are administered by the Head Office.  Normal retirement age is 
sixty five (65) years and membership of the plan is non-contributory. This defined-benefit pension plan 
closed to new employees from November 1, 2018. 

In fiscal 2021, Scotiabank began operating a defined contribution pension plan in which all pension 
service from November 1, 2018 will be earned for Scotiabank’s employees. This new plan will also 
be non-contributory but additional voluntary contributions will be permitted. All regular full-time 
employees as at November 1, 2018 will be eligible for membership in this new plan. The twelve (12) 
months of continuous service with the Bank criterion will still be in effect. The Bank is not exposed to 
any obligation, since such obligation will be met by our Head Office.
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(iii)	 Post-employment	(continued)
Other post-employment benefits
Scotiabank provides post-employment medical and life assurance benefits for retirees. The entitlement 
to this benefit is usually based on the employees remaining in service up to retirement age and the 
completion of a minimum service period.  The method of accounting used to recognise the liability is 
similar to that for the defined benefit plan. 

( j) Acceptances, guarantees and letters of credit
Financial guarantees are contracts that require Scotiabank to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss that occurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance 
with the terms of a debt instrument. 

‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Scotiabank’s commitments under acceptances, guarantees and letters of credit have been excluded from 
these financial statements because they do not meet the criteria for recognition.  These commitments as 
at October 31, 2021 total $2,517 million (2020: $3,079 million). In the event of a call on these commitments, 
Scotiabank has equal and offsetting claims against its customers.

(k) Deposit liabilities
Deposits from customers are Scotiabank’s source of funds. Deposits are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The estimated fair values of deposit liabilities are assumed to be equal to their carrying values, since the 
rates of interest that they bear are not materially different from current market rates and discounting the 
contractual cash flows would approximate the carrying values.

(l) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of Scotiabank’s assets, other than deferred tax assets (see Note 3 (h) are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists for 
that asset, that asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their value in use and their fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset.  

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

 (m) Provisions
A provision is recognised, if as a result of a past event, Scotiabank has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation.
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 (n)   New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the year
Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the current financial 
year. Scotiabankhas assessed them and has adopted those which are relevant to its financial statements:

•  Amendments to IFRS 3, Business combinations
Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, became effective on January 1, 2020 and confirmed that 
a business must include inputs and a process, and clarified that the process must be substantive and 
that the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to creating outputs.  The amendments 
narrowed the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs on goods and services 
provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on providing dividends or 
other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs.  

The new standard added a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group 
of assets, rather than a business, if the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a 
single asset or group of similar assets.

This is not applicable to Scotiabank and thus had no impact.

• Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39  
 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement became effective on January 1, 2020 and modify some 
specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential effects of the uncertainty caused 
by the IBOR reform.  In addition, the amendments require companies to provide additional information to 
investors about their hedging relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.  It amends 
the requirements for hedge accounting to support the provision of useful financial information during the 
period of uncertainty caused by the phasing out of interest-rate benchmarks such as interbank offered 
rates (IBORs) on hedge accounting.  
The adoption of amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not result in any changes to the  financial 
statements.

(o) New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the year

• Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases 
Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases became effective on June 1, 2020 and provide lessees with an exemption 
from assessing whether a COVID-19-related rent concession (a rent concession that reduces lease 
payments due on or before June 30, 2021) is a lease modification. 

The adoption of amendments to IFRS 16 did not result in any changes to the financial statements.

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in  
 Accounting Estimates and Errors

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of  Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors became effective on January 1, 2020 and clarify and align the definition 
of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the application of that concept whenever 
it is used in IFRS Standards. 

The adoption of amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 did not result in any changes to the  financial statements.

(p) New, revised and amended standards not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022.  Scotiabank has not early-adopted any of them and therefore they have 
not been applied in preparing these separate financial statements. The new standards and amendments 
listed below are those that are most likely to have an impact on Scotiabank’s performance, financial position 
or disclosures.

Effective November 1, 2021

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 (Amendments to  IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)
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Effective November 1, 2022
• Onerous Contracts Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
• Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)

Effective November 1, 2023
• Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)
• Amendments to IFRS 17
• Disclosure of Accounting Policies  (Amendments to IAS 1)
• Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to IAS 8)
• Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction, Amendments to IAS 12  
 Income Taxes

The Bank does not expect the adoption of these new, revised and amended standards to have a significant 
impact.

(q) Comparative information
Where necessary, comparatives have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

4. Use of Judgments and Estimates

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of Scotiabank’s accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses and contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively.

 A. Judgments
Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 
the amounts recognised in these financial statements are described below:
Classification	of	financial	assets
Scotiabank’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into 
different accounting categories based on the assessment of the business model within which the assets are 
held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the principal amount 
outstanding.  

 B. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment in the next financial year to amounts reported as at and for the year ended October 31, 
2021 is included below on pages 40-41.

(a)		Allowances	for	credit	losses	
Scotiabank’s allowance calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying 
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs. Some of the key drivers include the following:

• Changes in risk ratings of the borrower or instrument reflecting changes in their credit quality;
• Changes in the volumes of transactions;
• Changes in the forward-looking macroeconomic environment reflected in the variables used in the 

models such as GDP growth, unemployment rates, commodity prices, and house price indices, which 
are most closely related with credit losses in the relevant portfolio;

• Changes in macroeconomic scenarios and the probability weights assigned to each scenario; and
• Borrower migration between the three stages which can result from changes to any of the above inputs 

and assumptions.
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(b)	 Determining	fair	values	with	significant	unobservable	inputs
The determination of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities for which there is no 
observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy 3(c)
(ii).  For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less 
objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty 
of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

(c) Taxation
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes.  There are some transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  
Scotiabank recognises liabilities for possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made.

5.  Due from banks and related companies
 
Due from banks and related companies in the statement of financial position comprise the following amounts:

 2021 2020

Deposits with Central Bank other than statutory deposits 11,957,345 10,929,452
Deposits with head office and related companies 9,365,074 8,014,135
Deposits with other banks 25,009 27,521

 21,347,4281 8,971,108
Maturity of assets
Assets with original maturity date less than 3 months      21,347,428 18,971,108

6.  Deposits with the Central Bank

In accordance with the Financial Institutions Act 1995, The Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana Branch is required to hold 
and maintain, as a non-interest bearing deposit with the Bank of Guyana, a cash reserve balance equivalent to 12% 
of total prescribed liabilities. However; in keeping with the COVID 19 relief measures the Central Bank reduced the 
requirement to 10% until December 31, 2021.

Additionally, in accordance with the Financial Institutions Act 1995, Section 7(2), an assigned capital has been 
maintained and pledged with the Bank of Guyana. 

 2021 2020

Primary Reserve 6,739,161 6,812,208
Assigned Capital Pledged 251,327 251,327

 6,990,488 7,063,535 

7.  Investment Securities
 2021 2020

Government of Guyana 825,361 6,578,453
  
  825,361 6,578,453
Maturity of assets
Assets with original maturity date over 3 months -  3,483,685
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  2021 2020
8. Loans and advances to customers

8.1 Loans and advances

Loans and advances to customers 50,164,851 50,387,464
Allowance for impairment (1,949,263) (2,680,141)

Total loans net of impairment allowance 48,215,588 47,707,323
Interest receivable   392,576 612,992

Total loans to customers 48,608,164 48,320,315

8.2 Loans and advances impairment profile
  2021 2020

Principal neither past due nor impaired 35,382,809 32,991,362
Principal which is past due but not impaired 11,553,385 13,859,082
Principal which is impaired 3,228,657 3,537,020

Gross loans 50,164,851 50,387,464
Loan loss provision   (1,949,263) (2,680,141)

Total net of provision 48,215,588 47,707,323
Interest receivable 392,576 612,992

 48,608,164 48,320,315

8.3 Loans past due but not impaired

                                                                                                                          2021 
 Less than 30 – 60 61 – 89 Total
 30 days days days

Loans and advances to customers    
Commercial loans 349,121 65,130 48,673 462,924
Retail loans 8,825,904 1,333,550 931,007 11,090,461

 9,175,025 1,398,680 979,680 11,553,385

                                                                                                                          2020 
 Less than 30 – 60 61 – 89 Total
 30 days days days

Loans and advances to customers    

Commercial loans 660,499 70,789 26,463 757,751
Retail loans 10,126,553 2,027,119 947,659 13,101,331

 10,787,052 2,097,908 974,122 13,859,082
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8.4 Loans and advances to customers
                                                             2021 
 Gross loans Impairment Interest  Carrying
  allowance receivable amount 

    
Loans and advances
   to customers
Commercial loans 17,939,532  (146,344)            66,892 1 7,860,080  
Retail loans 32,225,319 (1,802,919) 325,684 30,748,084

 50,164,851 (1,949,263) 392,576 48,608,164

                                                            2020 
 Gross loans Impairment Interest  Carrying
  allowance receivable amount 

    
Loans and advances
   to customers
Commercial loans 17,050,285 (624,443) 59,699 16,485,541  
Retail loans 33,337,179 (2,055,698) 553,293 31,834,774

 50,387,464 (2,680,141) 612,992 48,320,315

8.5 Concentration of credit
Scotiabank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector based on the volume of loans granted to retail 
and commercial customers based on their industry sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from 
gross loans, inclusive of interest receivable, to customers is shown below.

  2021 2020
  

Agriculture 681,750 188,954
Mining & Quarrying  616,401 945,481
Manufacturing  2,689,749 2,219,135
Mortgages - Residential 26,888,065 26,545,630
Construction & Engineering 750,180 964,837
Services 10,054,466 12,881,299
Public Sector 15,209 30,500
Trade Credit Instruments 2,044,972 2,596,240
Resident Consumers 3,395,239 4,346,198
Non – Resident consumers 3,421,396 282,182

 50,557,427 51,000,456

8.6 Impaired loans
                                                2021 
 Gross         Allowance  
 impaired        for credit
 loans         losses  Net

    
Loans and advances
to customers
Commercial loans 1,133,352 (80,112)  1,053,240
Retail loans 2,095,305 (754,828) 1,340,477

  3,228,657                    (834,940) 2,393,717 
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                                                  2020 
 Gross          Allowance  
 impaired         for credit
 loans         losses  Net

    
Loans and advances
to customers
Commercial loans 1,688,289 (158,891) 1,529,398 
Retail loans 1,848,731                    (795,722) 1,053,009
       
 3,537,020 (954,613) 2,582,407 

8.7 Allowance for credit losses
                                              2021 
 Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total  
 

Loans and advances
to customers
Commercial loans 2,978   63,254     80,112   146,344
Retail loans  217,827   830,265     754,827     1,802,919

 220,805 893,519 834,939 1,949,263

                                                2020 
 Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total   
 

Loans and advances
to customers
Commercial loans 10,603 154,949 158,891 624,443 
Retail loans 447,722 812,254 795,722 2,055,698

 758,325 967,203 954,613 2,680,141

   2021 2020
8.8 Analysis of movement of impairment allowance 

 Allowance, beginning of year   2,680,141   1,513,457

Additions/ deductions
Impairment
Charge/ (credit) for the year                                                               641,811 1,756,513
Write-offs                                                                               (1,372,689) (589,829)

       Net (decrease) / increase in impairment 
         allowance for the year     (730,878)           1,166,684 

                     Allowance, end of year     1,949,263          2,680,141

8.9 Net impairment loss on financial assets

Impairment charge for the year (loans)  641,811 1,756,513
Impairment charge for the year (other) (13,908) 37,609
Recoveries (235,496) (78,458)

   392,407 1,715,664
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9. Assets classified as held for sale
 A non-current asset is classified as held for sale when: its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction, the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale is highly probable. 
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised and are carried at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell.

10. Property and Equipment

There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property and equipment during 
the year (2020: NIL).

       
    Furniture,    
  Land & Leasehold  Fittings &  Motor Work in Right-of-Use 
  Building Imp. Equipment Vehicles progress Asset Total

October 31, 2021        
Cost        
        
At beginning of year   645,204   296,131   1,554,694   29,682   -     389,306   2,915,017 
Additions   -     9,241   43,788   -     2,536   81,618   137,183 
Transfers/Disposal   (1,453)  (22,056)  (57,289)  -     -     (6,478)  (87,276)

At end of year   643,751   283,316   1,541,193   29,682   2,536   464,446   2,964,924 
        
Accumulated Depreciation        
At beginning of year   259,749   278,976   1,359,882   29,550   -     78,289   2,006,446 
Charge for the year   14,403   5,798   69,287   58   -     83,110   172,656 
Transfers/Disposal   (536)  (21,785)  (54,489)  -     -     (6,012)  (82,822)

At end of year   273,616   262,989   1,374,680   29,608   -     155,387   2,096,280 
        
Net book value   370,135   20,327   166,513   74   2,536   309,059   868,644 
        
October 31, 2020        
Cost        
        
At beginning of year   644,374   295,595   1,544,563   29,682   -     -     2,514,214 
Additions   830   536   10,131   -     -     437,639   449,136 
Transfers/Disposal    -     -     -     -     (48,333)  (48,333)
At end of year   645,204   296,131   1,554,694   29,682   -     389,306   2,915,017 
        
Accumulated Depreciation        
At beginning of year   245,327   271,239   1,292,609   25,167   -     -     1,834,342 
Charge for the year   14,422   7,737   67,273   4,383   -     78,289   172,104 
Transfers/Disposal   -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
At end of year   259,749   278,976   1,359,882   29,550   -     78,289   2,006,446 
        
Net book value   385,455   17,155   194,812   132   -     311,017   908,571 
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11. Other Assets
       2021 2020
    

Tax recoverable 152,342 137,704
Accounts receivable and prepayments 52,427 78,589
Clearing items in transit 68,538 103,951
Others _ 6,798 _54,316
 280,105 374,560

 
    2021 2020

12. Deposits from customers

12.1 Demand  21,459,176 21,022,057
Savings 40,175,318 43,215,167
Term  2,501,309 2,879,977 

 64,135,803 67,117,201
        Accrued Interest                     9,266               10,695

           64,145,069       67,127,896

12.2 Concentration of deposits
Public Sector 1,313,823 840,233
Financial Corp. other than Commercial Banks 1,624,327 1,868,708
Private Sector  20,210,082 21,722,437
Individuals  31,772,625 31,383,193
Non-Residents  9,224,212 11,313,325

 64,145,069 67,127,896

13. Due to banks and related companies

Related companies 10,295 36,107
Banks 1,045,649 1,110,797

 1,055,944 1,146,904

 
14. Other liabilities

Deferred Income 39,427 36,027
Unclaimed accounts 394,706 406,449
Accrued charges and other payables 1,622,979 975,374
Provision for operational losses 6,060 8,489

           Other  580,748 431,973
    2,643,920 1,858,312
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 2021 2020 
  

15. Deferred taxation

15.1 The net deferred tax liabilities (asset) is attributable to the following items:
Deferred tax liability
Investment securities at FVOCI 2,850 15,181
  2,850 ___15,181
Deferred tax asset
Property and equipment (49,946) (54,206)
IFRS 16 ROU Asset/Lease liability (2,074) (1,356)
IFRS 9 ECL (200,278) (498,192)
Deferred Income (15,771) (14,411)
  (268,069) (568,165)

Net deferred tax liability (asset) (265,219) (552,984)

15.2 The movement in the deferred tax amount comprised:
Balance at beginning of year (552,984) (64,005)
Amounts	recognised	in	OCI	
-  Investment securities at FVOCI (12,331) 4,055

Amounts	recognised	in	profit	or	loss
-  Current year’s deferred tax (Note 24.1) 300,096 (493,034)

Balance at end of year   (265,219) (552,984)

16.  Assigned capital
In accordance with the Financial Institutions Act 1995, Section 7(2), a provision has been maintained as assigned 
capital. 

17.  Other capital
The account relates to capital fund provided by Head Office in addition to assigned capital.

18.  Statutory reserve
This account represents amounts transferred from net profit after taxation in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Institutions Act 1995, Section 20(1).

19.  General banking risk reserve
The Bank carries out a detailed review of its loan portfolio twice yearly in accordance with the requirements of the 
Financial Institutions Act (FIA) 1995. The General Banking Reserve is created as an appropriation of retained earnings 
for the difference between the specific provision as required per Supervision Guideline # 5 and the accounting 
provision in line with IFRS requirements.

      2021 2020 
  

20. Interest Income

Loans and receivables 4,374,713 4,729,459
Investment securities 30,053 49,855
Others    19,565 75,474

   4,424,331 4,854,788
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      2021 2020 
21. Interest Expense

Savings deposits 203,211 193,139
Term deposits   20,494 29,645
Lease interest 6,531 __7,160

   230,236 229,944

 
      2021 2020 
  

22. Other Income (Net)

Foreign exchange gains 1,386,479 1,278,839
Fees and commission 998,942 985,392
Others  ___   801 ___1,525

 2,386,222 2,265,756

      2021 2020 
23. Other Expenses

Property tax 100,999 93,943
Business licenses 3,438 4,750
Deposit insurance premium 92,271 96,149
Professional fees 33,759 49,533
Stationery 45,020 56,569
Outsourced services 595,545 577,104
Other operating expenses _  354,663 _303,832

  1,225,695 1,181,880

 2021 2020 
24. Taxation 

24.1 Taxation charge
Current tax                                1,060,297    1,427,352
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 300,096 (493,034)
Change in estimates related to prior years 13,075  __(39,879)

  1,373,468 894,439
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24.2 Taxation reconciliation
The tax on the operating profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate 
of The Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana Branch.

The following is a reconciliation of the application of the effective tax rate with the provision for taxation:

    2021    2020 
  %  %

Profit before taxation 3,245,604 100  2,230,028 100 

Computed tax calculated at the statutory
   rate of 40% (2020: 40%) 1,298,241 40 892,011 40 
Tax effect of items that are adjusted in determining 
taxable profit:
-  Tax effect of non-taxable income (6,616) 40 (8,057) 40 
-  Tax effect of non-deductible costs (198,890) 40 572,894 40 
-  Rental cost (35,138) 40 (32,758) 40
-  Accounting depreciation vs. capital allowances 2,700 40 3,262 40 
-  Change in estimates related to prior years 13,075 40 (39,879) 40 

Current tax charge and effective tax rate  1,073,372 33.1 1,387,473 62.2 

Deferred tax charge / (credit) 300,096  (493,034)
                  
Tax charge and effective tax rate 1,373,468 42.3 894,439 40.1

24.3 Amounts recognised in OCI:
  Before  Tax (Expense) Net of
  Tax    Benefit Tax 

 2021
Fair value re-measurement of investments at FVOCI (30,826) 12,331 (18,495)

 2020
Fair value re-measurement of investments at FVOCI 10,139 (4,055) 6,084

25. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
 
 (a) Commitments

The undiscounted commitment under the terms of various leases used primarily for banking purposes, exclusive 
of any related value-added tax, is:
     2021 2020 
  
Rental due within one year 88,182 71,815
Rental due between one and five years 240,572 187,692
Rental due after five years                                                                                             ______ _               ______  
 328,754 259,507

 (b) Contingent liabilities
 
 (i)  General
  In the normal course of business, various commitments and contingent liabilities are outstanding  which 

are not reflected in these financial statements.  These include commitments to extend credit, which, in the 
opinion of management, do not represent unusual risk, and no material losses are anticipated as a result of 
these transactions.

  As at October 31, 2021, there were certain legal proceedings against Scotiabank.  Based upon legal advice, 
the Directors do not expect the outcome of those actions to have a material effect on Scotiabank’s financial 
position at that date or profit or loss for the year then ended.
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 (ii)  Additional Corporation Tax Assessment
  During 2018, the Guyana Revenue Authority (GRA) assessed the Bank for additional Corporation Tax of 

$1,122,791,107 for Years of Assessment 2011 to 2017. The premise of the GRA’s additional assessment is 
that the Bank incorrectly claimed provision for loan loss expense as a tax deductible expense citing Section 
16(1) of the Income Tax Act Chapter 81:01. The amount challenged by the GRA represents 99% of the 
Bank’s loan loss expenses over the period assessed. The Bank does not agree with the GRA’s position 
regarding the deductibility of loan loss provision and has objected to the additional assessment. Based on 
professional advised received, an amount of $12,348,835 has been provided for, no further provision has 
been recognised in these financial statements as Management believes that there is high probability that 
the appeal will be successful. 

26. Financial Risk Management
The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
(a) Credit risk
 (i) Collateral held and other credit enhancements and their financial effects
 (ii) Exposure to credit risk
 (iii) Analysis of credit quality

(b) Market risk
 (i) Exposure to currency risks
 (ii) Exposure to interest rate risk
 (iii) Exposure to equity price risk

(c) Liquidity risk
 (i) Exposure to liquidity risk
 (ii) Maturity analysis for financial liabilities and financial assets.

(d) Capital management

(e) Operational risk

This note presents information about Scotiabank’s exposure to each of the above risks, Scotiabank’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and Scotiabank’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of Scotiabank’s risk 
management framework.  The parent company of Scotiabank has established the Scotiabank Group Asset Liability 
Committee (ALCO), Scotiabank Group Audit Committee, Group Credit Committee and Group Operational Risk 
Committee, which are responsible for developing and monitoring Scotiabank’s risk management policies in their 
specified areas. 

Scotiabank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by Scotiabank, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risk and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. Scotiabank, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Scotiabank Group Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with Scotiabank’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by Scotiabank.  The Scotiabank Group Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by 
the Group Internal Audit function. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Group Audit Committee.



34

Financial Statements of  THE BANK OF NOVA Scotia - GUYANA BRANCH - October 31, 2021

 26.1 Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counterparty to honour its financial or 
contractual obligations to Scotiabank.  Credit risk is created in Scotiabank’s direct lending operations, and in 
its funding, investment and trading activities where counterparties have repayment or other obligations to 
Scotiabank.

Credit risk is managed through strategies, policies, and limits that are approved by the Board of Directors, 
which routinely reviews the quality of the major portfolios and all the larger credits.

Scotiabank’s credit policies and limits are structured to ensure broad diversification across various types 
of credits. Limits are set for individual borrowers, particular industries and certain types of lending. These 
various limits are determined by taking into account the relative risk of the borrower or industry.

Scotiabank’s credit processes include:
• A centralised credit review system that is independent of the customer relationship function;
• Senior management, which considers all major risk exposures; and
• An independent review by Scotiabank’s Internal Audit Department.

Relationship managers develop and structure individual proposals at branches and commercial centres. 
Furthermore, they conduct a full financial review for each customer at least annually, so that Scotiabank 
remains fully aware of customers’ risk profiles.  The Credit Risk Management department analyses and 
adjudicates on commercial and corporate credits over a certain size and exceptions to established credit 
policies.  In assessing credit proposals, Scotiabank is particularly sensitive to the risks posed to credit quality 
by economic exposures.

Retail credits are normally authorised in branches within established criteria using a credit scoring system.  
The Credit Risk Management department adjudicates on those retail credits that do not conform to the 
established criteria.  The retail portfolios are reviewed regularly for early signs of possible difficulties.

These credit scoring models are subject to ongoing review to assess their key parameters and to ensure that 
they are creating the desired business and risk results. Proposed changes to these models or their parameters 
require analysis and recommendation by the credit risk unit independent of the business line, and approval 
by the appropriate management credit committee.

A centralised collection unit utilises an automated system for the follow-up and collection of delinquent 
accounts. All delinquent accounts are aggressively managed with slightly greater emphasis being placed 
on the larger dollar accounts given that they represent a potential larger loss exposure to Scotiabank. The 
centralised collections unit is also responsible for the monitoring and trending of delinquency by branch, 
business lines and any other parameters deemed appropriate. Adverse trends, when identified, are analysed 
and the appropriate corrective action implemented. Maximum delinquency targets are set for each major 
product line and the collections unit works towards ensuring delinquency levels are below these targets.  

 (i) Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effects
Collateral
Scotiabank, as part of its credit risk management strategy, employs the practice of taking security in 
respect of funds advanced to its clients.  Scotiabank, through its ALCO and its Credit Risk department, 
develops and reviews policies related to the categories of security and their valuation that are acceptable 
to Scotiabank as collateral.  The principal collateral types are as follows:

- Mortgages over residential property
- Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable
- Charges over debt instruments and equity instruments.
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Repossessed collateral
Scotiabank enforces its power of sale agreements over various types of collateral (as noted above) 
as a consequence of failure by borrowers or counter-parties to honour their financial obligations to 
Scotiabank.  Appraisals are obtained for the current value of the collateral as an input to the impairment 
measurement, and once repossessed, the collateral is sold as soon as practicable. The proceeds net of 
disposal cost are applied to the outstanding debt. 

(ii) Exposure to credit risk
  Scotiabank’s maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or credit enhancements is detailed 

below:
      2021 2020 
  

Credit risk recognised on the statement of financial
position
Due from banks and related companies 21,347,428 18,971,108
Deposits with Central Bank 6,990,488 7,063,535
Loans to customers  48,608,164 48,320,315
Investment securities (excluding equities)
   - Debt instruments measured at FVOCI   825,361 6,578,453

 77,771,441 80,933,411
Credit risk not recognised on the statement of financial
position
Acceptances, guarantees and letters of credit 2,517,160 3,078,841

   
   Total credit risk exposure         80,288,601       84,012,252

(iii) Changes to the allowance for credit losses
  The following table presents the changes to the allowance for credit losses on loans:

                               2021 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total   
      
Retail loans
Balance at beginning of the year 447,723 812,254 795,721 2,055,698
Remeasurement (302,162)   346,616     457,941     502,395
Newly originated or purchased 76,048  -     -      76,048
Derecognition and maturities (25,612)  (187,074)   -    (212,686)
Changes in models & methodologies             -               -   -   
Transfers to (from):
Stage 1    99,801   (99,433)  (368)  -
Stage 2 (71,342)    95,235 23,893)   -  
Stage 3 (392) 75,239) 75,631  -   
Gross write offs -   -    (770,340)  (770,340)
Recoveries -     -      124,707     124,707
Foreign exchange & other movements (6,238)  (62,093)  95,428 27,097  
 
Balance at end of year 217,826     830,266     754,827   1,802,919  
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                               2021 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
 
Commercial loans 
Balance at beginning of the year 310,603 154,948 158,892 624,443
Remeasurement (282,618) (86,495) 403,975 34,862
Newly originated or purchased 4,173  -     -     4,173
Derecognition and maturities (34,433)  (81)                  -           (34,514)
Changes in models & methodologies         (413)  (831)   -    (1,244) 
Transfers to (from):
   Stage 1 (808)  808  -     -      
   Stage 2 3,468  (3,468)   -           -      
   Stage 3 -     -     -     -   
Gross write offs -     -    (602,349)  (602,349)
Recoveries -     -      110,790     110,790
Foreign exchange & other movements 3,006  (1,627)   8,804  10,183  
 
Balance at end of year 2,978 63,254 80,112 146,344 

(iv) Analysis of Credit Quality
  The following tables present the carrying value of exposures by risk rating. 

                               2021 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Retail loans
Very low 2,046    -     -      2,046
Low 16,940,122   52,206    -       16,992,328
Medium 6,156,769   35,443    -    6,192,212
High 1,536,605     2,799,837    -      4,336,442
Very high 883     2,585,353    -      2,586,236
Loans not graded 195,938     150,495    -      346,433
Default -     -       2,095,306   2,095,306 

Total 24,832,363   5,623,334      2,095,306   32,551,003
 Allowance for credit losses (217,827) (830,265) (754,827) (1,802,919)   
  
 Carrying value 24,614,536   4,793,069      1,340,479   30,748,084

                               2021 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
   
Commercial loans
Investment grade 1,161,235     2,842,069    -      4,003,304 
Non-Investment 9,845,236   2,636,128    -    12,481,364 
Watch list  -       388,405     -      388,405
Loans not graded - - - -
 Default - - 1,133,351 1,133,351   
  
Total 11,006,471    5,866,602     1,133,351    18,006,424
Allowance for credit losses (2,978) (63,254) (80,112) (146,344)  
 
Carrying value 11,003,493 5,803,348 1,053,239 17,860,080
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The definitions of the internal ratings are as follows:

Excellent - An obligor rated as “Excellent” has an excellent financial position characterised by very 
high equity, liquidity and debt serviceability.  These obligors are only susceptible to 
extreme adverse changes in economic conditions or circumstances.  These facilities are 
generally fully secured by readily realisable collateral or by a first mortgage on real estate 
of sufficient value to cover all amounts advanced.

Very Good - An obligor rated as “Very Good” has a very strong financial position, characterised by 
high equity, liquidity and debt serviceability.  These obligors have a high level of tolerance 
to adverse changes in economic conditions or circumstances.  Facilities are generally well 
collateralised.

Good -  An obligor rated as “Good” has a strong financial position, characterised by adequate 
equity, liquidity and debt serviceability. These obligors though susceptible to adverse 
changes in economic conditions or circumstances are generally able to tolerate moderate 
levels of changes.  Facilities are generally collateralised.

Acceptable - An obligor rated as “Acceptable” has a good financial position characterised by sufficient 
equity, liquidity and debt serviceability.  These obligors are susceptible to adverse changes 
in economic conditions or circumstances and can handle these changes with some level 
of difficulty.  Facilities may or may not be secured by collateral.

26.2 Market risk
 Market risk refers to the risk of loss resulting from changes in market prices such as interest rates, foreign 

exchange market prices and other price risks.

 The Scotiabank Group Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) provides senior management oversight of the 
various activities that expose Scotiabank to market risk. This includes, asset liability management, while also 
approving limits for funding and investment activities, and reviewing Scotiabank’s interest rate strategies 
and performance against established limits.  

 Scotiabank measures and controls market risk primarily through the use of risk sensitivity analysis. This 
method of stress testing provides an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme 
conditions. These tests are conducted by the market risk function, the results of which are reviewed by 
senior management. 

 All market risk limits are reviewed at least annually. The key sources of Scotiabank’s market risk are as follows:

26.2.1 Currency risk
 Scotiabank has no significant foreign exchange exposure since assets are funded by liabilities in the same 

currency. Foreign currency transactions have not required the use of interest rate swaps and foreign currency 
options and other derivative instruments which all carry inherent risks. Currency exposure resides mainly 
in trading activity where Scotiabank buys and sells currencies in the spot and forward markets to assist 
customers in meeting their business needs. Trading portfolios are managed with the intent to buy and sell 
over short periods of time, rather than to hold positions for investment. Explicit limits are established by 
currency, position and term.  Daily reports are independently reviewed for compliance.

 The results of the sensitivity analyses conducted as at October 31, on the possible impact on net profits 
before tax (PBT) and on equity, of fluctuations of the US dollar foreign exchange rate relative to the Guyana 
dollar are presented below.

Change in currency rate    Effect on PBT Effect on Equity
   2021 2020 2021 2020
    
 Increase of 1% (31,658) (10,322) (23,556) (10,765)

 Decrease of 1% 31,658 10,322 23,556 10,765
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  Concentration of assets and liabilities by currency
  Scotiabank has the following significant currency positions, shown in GY$ equivalents:

   2021   
 GY US Others Total
Assets

Cash on hand and in transit 1,661,645 223,807 10,877 1,896,329
Due from banks and related companies 12,534,957 8,510,211   302,260 21,347,428
Deposit with central bank 6,988,309           2,179          - 6,990,488
Investment securities 825,361                 -          - 825,361
Net loans to customers 48,420,472 187,692          - 48,608,164
Assets classified as held for sale 28,028                 -          - 28,028
Property, plant and equipment 646,532 222,112          - 868,644
Deferred tax asset 268,069                 -          - 268,069
Other assets   270,773   9,332            -  280,105

Total assets            71,644,146               9,155,333            313,137 81,112,616

Liabilities

Deposits           59,246,020              4,898,057        992 64,145,069  
Due to banks and related
companies       862,097             5,404   188,443      1,055,944  
Other liabilities                                       1,552,837 1,086,052    5,031 2,643,920
Deferred tax liability       2,850 - -       2,850
Provision for taxation      12,349 - -       12,349

Total liabilities 61,676,153 5,989,513 194,466 67,860,132

Net financial position 9,967,993 3,165,820 118,671 13,252,484

                   2020   
 GY US Others Total
Assets

Cash on hand and in transit 1,104,288 4,405 9,917 1,118,610
Due from banks and related companies 8,727,512 9,913,017 330,579 18,971,108
Deposit with central bank 7,063,535 - - 7,063,535
Investment securities 6,578,453 - - 6,578,453
Net loans to customers 48,227,936 92,379 - 48,320,315
Assets classified as held for sale 28,028 - - 28,028
Property, plant and equipment 705,849 202,722 - 908,571
Deferred tax asset 568,165 - - 568,165
Other assets  345,681  28,879  -  374,560

Total assets         73,349,447         10,241,402         340,496          83,931,345

Liabilities

Deposits          59,516,183            7,609,972      1,741         67,127,896 
Due to banks and related companies      853,393              12  293,499    1,146,904 
Other liabilities                                       201,334 1,599,254   57,724 1,858,312
Deferred tax liability      15,181        15,181
Provision for taxation    135,556 - -     135,556

Total liabilities 60,721,647 9,209,238 352,964 70,283,849

Net financial position 12,627,800 1,032,164 (12,468) 13,647,496  
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26.2.2 Interest rate risk
 Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions which are subject to interest rate 

adjustments within a specific period.  In Scotiabank’s funding, lending and investment activities, fluctuations 
in interest rates are reflected in interest rate margins and consequently its earnings.  A negative gap, which is 
not unusual, occurs when more liabilities than assets are subject to rate changes during a prescribed period 
of time.  Interest rate risk is managed through the matching of funding products with financing services, 
regular review of structural gaps which may exist and monitoring market conditions through a centralised 
treasury operation.  The interest rates on a material amount of Scotiabank’s assets can be repriced as and 
when required. 

 
 Interest Sensitivity of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 The following table summarises carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on the statement 

of financial position, in order to arrive at Scotiabank’s interest rate gap on the earlier of contractual repricing 
and maturity dates:

     2021    
 Due on Due in Due in Over Non-interest Total 
 demand one year two to five years bearing
Financial assets      

Cash on hand and in transit - - - - 1,896,329 1,896,329
Due from banks and related 
   companies 9,390,083  -                 -                  -  11,957,345 21,347,428
Deposits with Central Bank - 251,327                        - - 6,739,161 6,990,488
Investment securities - 825,361 - - - 825,361
Net loans to 
Customers 6,231,306 6,031,374 9,243,382 23,873,445 3,228,657 48,608,164
Assets classified as held 
  for sale - - - - 28,028 28,028
Deferred tax assets - - - - 268,069 268,069
Other assets - - - - 280,105 280,105

Total financial  assets 15,621,389 7,108,062 9,243,382 23,873,445 24,397,694 80,243,972
      
Financial liabilities      
Deposits  38,107,236 4,188,082 416,015 - 21,433,736 64,145,069
Due to banks and related 
  companies - - - - 1,055,944 1,055,944
Provision for taxation - - - - 12,349 12,349
Other liabilities - - - - 2,643,920 2,643,920
Deferred tax liability - - - - 2,850 2,850
      
Total financial liabilities 38,107,236 4,188,082 416,015 - 25,148,799 67,860,132
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     2020    
 Due on Due in Due in Over Non-interest Total 
 demand one year two to five years bearing
Financial assets      
Cash on hand and in transit - - - - 1,118,610 1,118,610
Due from banks and related 
  companies 6,526,595  1,502,480                 -                  -  10,942,033 18,971,108
Deposits with Central Bank - 251,327                      - - 6,812,208 7,063,535
Investment securities - 6,578,453 - - - 6,578,453
Net loans to 
Customers 7,936,645 6,155,861 8,721,777 21,969,012 3,537,020 48,320,315
Assets classified as held 
  for sale - - - - 28,028 28,028
      
Deferred tax assets - - - - 568,165 568,165
Other assets - - - - 374,560 374,560

Total financial assets 14,463,240 14,488,121 8,721,777 21,969,012 23,380,624 83,022,774
      
Financial liabilities      
Deposits  43,217,246 2,098,424 792,335 - 21,019,891 67,127,896
Due to banks and related 
  companies - - - - 1,146,904 1,146,904
Provision for taxation - - - - 135,556 135,556
Other liabilities - - - - 1,858,312 1,858,312
Deferred tax liability - - - - 15,181 15,181
      
Total financial liabilities 43,217,246 2,098,424 792,335 - 24,175,844 70,283,849

      
 Equity price risk
 Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of equity indices and/or the 

value of individual equities. 

 The effect on equity will arise from changes in prices for those instruments that are categorised as held-to-maturity.

 Scotiabank is exposed to an insignificant amount of equity price risk.

26.3 Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that Scotiabank is unable to meet its financial obligations in a timely manner at 

reasonable prices. Financial obligations include liabilities to depositors, payments due under contractual 
arrangements, settlement of securities, borrowing and repurchase transactions and lending and investing 
commitments.

 Liquidity risk arises from fluctuations in cash flows. The objective of the liquidity management process is 
to ensure that Scotiabank honours all of its financial commitments as they fall due. Scotiabank, through its 
Treasury function, measures and forecasts its cash flow commitments and ensures that sufficient liquidity 
is available to meet its needs. The ALCO monitors Scotiabank’s liquidity management process, policies and 
strategies.

	 To	fulfill	this	objective,	Scotiabank	maintains	diversified	sources	of	funding,	sets	prudent	limits	and	ensures	
immediate	access	to	liquid	assets.	Scotiabank	relies	on	a	broad	range	of	funding	sources	and	applies	prudent	
limits	to	avoid	undue	concentration.	The	principal	sources	of	funding	are	capital,	core	deposits	from	retail	and	
commercial	customers	and	wholesale	deposits	raised	in	the	interbank	and	commercial	markets. Scotiabank’s 
extensive branch network provides a strong foundation for diversifying its funding and raising the level of 
core deposits. Fallback techniques include access to local interbank and institutional markets and stand-by 
lines of credit with external parties.
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 The table below shows a maturity analysis of financial instruments using discounted cash flows of financial 
assets and financial liabilities based on their contractual maturity dates as at October 31:

   2021   
 Due on Up to Two to Over Total
 demand one year five years five years
Assets     
Cash on hand and in transit 1,896,329 - - - 1,896,329
Due from banks and related 
 companies 21,347,428 -                        -                       -  21,347,428
Deposit with Central bank 6,739,161 251,327 - - 6,990,488
Investment securities - 825,361 - - 825,361
Net loans to customers 9,459,963 6,031,374 9,243,382 23,873,445 48,608,164

 39,442,881  7,108,062 9,243,382 23,873,445 79,667,770 
 
Liabilities         
Taxation payable 12,349                -                    -                  -    12,349
Other liabilities 2,643,920                -                    -                  -    2,643,920
Deposits  59,540,972 4,188,082 416,015 - 64,145,069
Due to banks and related 
 companies 1,055,944 - - - 1,055,944

 63,253,185 4,188,082 416,015 - 67,857,282 
 
Net gap (23,810,304) 2,919,980 8,827,367 23,873,445 11,810,488
     
Cumulative gap (23,810,304) (20,890,324) (12,062,957) 11,810,488  - 

   2020   
 Due on Up to Two to Over Total
 demand one year five years five years
Assets     
Cash on hand and in transit 1,118,610 - - - 1,118,610
Due from banks and related 
 companies 17,468,628 1,502,480                        -                       -  18,971,108
Deposit with Central bank 6,812,208 251,327 - - 7,063,535
Investment securities - 6,578,453 - - 6,578,453
Net loans to customers 11,473,665 6,155,861 8,721,777 21,969,012 48,320,315

 36,873,111 14,488,121 8,721,777 21,969,012 82,052,021
     
Liabilities         
Taxation payable 135,556                -                    -                  -    135,556
Other liabilities 1,858,312                -                    -                  -    1,858,312
Deposits  64,237,137 2,098,424 792,335 - 67,127,896
Due to banks and related 
  companies 1,146,904 - - - 1,146,904

 67,377,909 2,098,424 792,335 - 70,268,668  
  
Net gap    (30,504,798) 12,389,697 7,929,442 21,969,012 11,783,353
     
Cumulative gap    (30,504,798)  (18,115,101)   (10,185,659) 11,783,353  - 
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 26.4 Capital management
  Scotiabank’s capital management policies seek to achieve several objectives:

• Compliance with capital requirements as set by the Bank of Guyana
• Ensuring Scotiabank’s ability to continue as a going concern
• Maintaining a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by Scotiabank’s management. 
Scotiabank employs techniques derived from the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision - Basel I 1998 Capital Accord as implemented by the Bank of Guyana.

The required information is filed with the regulatory authority on a monthly basis. Scotiabank complied with 
all the externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject.

Scotiabank’s regulatory capital consists of the sum of the following elements:

• Tier	1	capital. Tier 1 capital comprises equity and retained earnings and is a measure of Scotiabank’s 
financial position. Deductions such as losses incurred in the current year of operations, whether audited 
or unaudited and whether or not publicly disclosed are made from Tier 1.

• Tier	2	capital. Tier 2 capital comprises revaluation reserves created by the revaluation of investments 
and general banking risk reserves.

The following table summaries the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios for Scotiabank as at 
October 31.  

  2021 2020
  

Tier 1 capital
Assigned capital 251,327 251,327
Statutory reserve 251,400 251,400
Other capital and reserves 12,745,168 13,121,215
Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 13,247,895 13,623,942
  

Tier 2 capital
General provision and banking risk reserve - -
Investment revaluation reserve 4,589 23,554 

 Total qualifying Tier 2 capital 4,589 23,554

 Risk weighted assets:
 On balance sheet 38,884,885 34,731,539

Off balance sheet 1,794,544 2,340,833

Total risk weighted assets 40,679,429 37,072,372

 Total regulatory capital to risk weighted assets - Actual 32.58% 36.81%

 Total regulatory capital to risk weighted assets - Minimum              8% 8%
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26.5 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 
Scotiabank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than 
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risk arises from all of Scotiabank’s operations.

Scotiabank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to Scotiabank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to the Internal Controls Committee. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall 
Scotiabank standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

• Appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of transactions
• Reconciliation and monitoring of transactions
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements
• Documentation of controls and procedures
• Periodic assessment of operational risks, the adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risks 

identified
• Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
• Development of contingency plans
• Training and professional development
• Ethical and business standards
• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with Scotiabank standards is supported by a programme of periodic review undertaken by 
Internal Audit.  The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with management of the business unit to 
which they relate, with summaries submitted to senior management of Scotiabank. 

27. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities and Other Contracts

The fair value of financial instruments that are recognised on the statement of financial position and the fair value 
of financial instruments that are not recognised on the statement of financial position are based on the valuation 
methods and assumptions set out in the significant accounting policies note 3(c)(i-iv).

 A. Valuation models

Scotiabank classifies fair value using the following three-level fair value hierarchy based on the extent to 
which one or more significant inputs are observable or not observable:

• Level 1- Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

• Level 2- Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices).  This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in 
active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets 
that are considered less active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly observable from market data.

• Level 3- Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.  This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique included inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.  This category includes 
instruments that are based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable 
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.
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Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar 
instruments for which observable market prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs 
used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other inputs 
used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity 
index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.

Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and 
estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of observable 
market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on 
specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

Due to the judgement used in applying a wide range of acceptable valuation techniques and estimations in 
the calculation of fair value amounts, fair values are not necessarily comparable among financial institutions.  
The calculation of estimated fair values is based upon market conditions at a specific point in time and may 
not be reflective of future fair values.

Scotiabank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred. There were no transfers between levels during the year.

  B. Financial instruments measured at fair value

The table below is an analysis of financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date by the 
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

  2021   
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets    
Investment securities    - 825,361   - 825,361
 
   - 825,361  - 825,361

 
   2020   
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets    
Investment securities    - 6,578,453   - 6,578,453
 
   - 6,578,453  - 6,578,453
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   C. Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The	table	below	is	an	analysis	of	financial	instruments	not measured	at	fair	value	at	the	reporting	date	
by	the	level	in	the	fair	value	hierarchy	into	which	the	fair	value	measurement	is	categorised.	It	does	not	
include	fair	value	information	for	financial	assets	and	liabilities	not	measured	at	fair	value	if	the	carrying	
amount	is	a	reasonable	approximation	of	fair	value.

 Carrying Value   Fair Value  
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Financial assets     

Cash on hand and in transit 1,896,329 1,118,610 1,896,329 1,118,610
Due from banks and related companies 21,347,428 18,971,108 21,347,428 18,971,108
Deposits with Bank of Guyana 6,990,488 7,063,535 6,990,488 7,063,535
Net loans to customers 48,608,164 48,320,315 48,608,164 48,320,315
 
 78,842,409 75,473,568 78,842,409 75,473,568
Financial liabilities     
Deposits 64,145,069 67,127,896 64,145,069 67,155,869
Due to banks and related Companies 1,055,944 1,146,904 1,055,944 1,146,904
 
 65,201,013 68,274,800 65,201,013 68,302,773

(a) Cash on hand and in transit 

 These amounts are short-term in nature and are taken to be equivalent to fair value.

(b) Due from banks and related companies

 Amounts due from banks and related companies are negotiated at market rates for relatively short 
tenors and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values that approximate the carrying values.

(c) Deposits with Central Bank

 The fair value of deposits with Central Bank is determined to approximate to their carrying value 
using discounted cash flow analysis.  A significant portion of the deposits is receivable on demand.

(d) Loans to customers

 Loans and advances to customers are granted at market rates and their values are not adversely 
affected by unusual terms.  The estimated future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate 
based on market rates at the reporting date for similar type facilities.

(e) Deposits and due to banks and related companies

 Customer deposits and due to banks and related companies are negotiated at market rates. 
Deposits that are fixed rate facilities are at rates that approximate market rates and are assumed 
to have discounted cash flow values that approximate the carrying values.
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  D.  Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The following table provides a reconciliation between line items in the Statement of financial position and 
the categories of financial instruments:
   2021   
 FVTPL FVOCI FVOCI Amortised Total
  Debt Equity Cost 
Assets
Asset classified as held for sale   - 28,028 28,028
Cash on hand and in transit - - - 1,896,329 1,896,329
Due from banks and related companies - - - 21,347,428 21,347,428
Deposits with Central Bank - - - 6,990,488 6,990,488
Investment securities - 825,361 - - 825,361
Net loans to customers    48,608,164 48,608,164
Deferred tax asset    268,069 268,069
Other Assets- - - - 280,105 280,105

Total financial assets - 825,361 - 79,418,611 80,243,972

Liabilities     

Deposits                                                        - - - 64,145,069 64,145,069
Due to banks and related companies    1,055,944 1,055,944
Other liabilities    2,643,920 2,643,920
Deferred tax liability    2,850 2,850
Provision for tax    12,349 12,349

Total financial liabilities - - - 67,860,132 67,860,132
     

   2020   
 FVTPL FVOCI FVOCI Amortised Total
  Debt Equity Cost 
Assets
Asset classified as held for sale   - 28,028 28,028
Cash on hand and in transit - - - 1,118,610 1,118,610
Due from banks and related companies - - - 18,971,108 18,971,108
Deposits with Central Bank - - - 7,063,535 7,063,535
Investment securities - 6,578,453 - - 6,578,453
Net loans to customers    48,320,315 48,320,315
Deferred tax asset    568,165 568,165
Other Assets - - - 374,560 374,560

Total financial assets - 6,578,453 - 76,444,321 83,022,774

Liabilities     

Deposits                                                        - - - 67,127,896 67,127,896

Due to banks and related companies    1,146,904 1,146,904
Other liabilities    1,858,312 1,858,312
Deferred tax liability    15,181 15,181
Provision for tax    135,556 135,556

Total financial liabilities - - - 70,283,849 70,283,849
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28.  Operating segments

 The operations of the Bank of Nova Scotia - Guyana Branch are concentrated within the Co-operative Republic of 
Guyana.  The Bank’s operations are managed by strategic business units which offer different financial products 
and services to various market segments. The management function of the various business units review internal 
reports at least monthly, whilst The Bank of Nova Scotia - Guyana Branch’s management do so at least quarterly.

 The following summary describes the operations of each of the Bank’s reportable segments:
 • Corporate, Commercial and Small Business Banking – Includes the provision of loans, deposits, trade financing  

       and other financial services to businesses.
 • Retail Banking – Includes the provision of loans, deposits and other financial services to individuals.
 • Treasury – Includes the functions of a centralised treasury unit and other centralised services.

 The results of the various operating segments are set out below. Performance is measured based on segment profits 
before tax as included in the internal management reports reviewed by senior management. Segment profitability 
is used by management to assess product pricing, productivity and hence, the allocation of resources to the various 
operating segments.

      
    2021
 Corporate, 
 Commercial & 
 Small Business Retail  Total 
  Banking   Banking Treasury Segment Others Total Bank
            
      
Net interest income         1,400,415     2,752,985         40,695     4,194,095 -     4,194,095
Non-interest revenue           564,643        436,049     1,385,530     2,386,222 -     2,386,222
Net segment interest and
   other income 1,965,058      3,189,034      1,426,225     6,580,317  -       6,580,317 

             765,888    1,311,249     1,168,468     3,245,605                   -       3,245,605 
Net segment profit
  before taxes      
Segment assets         18,070,007    33,115,670     28,656,733   79,842,410         1,270,206    81,112,616
      
Segment liabilities         30,696,563    33,439,241         9,266   64,145,070         3,715,062   67,860,132 
      
    2020
 Corporate, 
 Commercial & 
 Small Business Retail  Total 
  Banking   Banking Treasury Segment Others Total Bank
            
      
Net interest income  1,542,881 3,032,108 49,855 4,624,844 -     4,624,844
Non-interest revenue 536,449 452,634 1,276,673 2,265,756 -     2,265,756
Net segment interest and
   other income 2,079,330      3,484,742      1,326,528     6,890,600  -       6,890,600
 
             341,122    661,868     1,227,038     2,230,028                   -       2,230,028 
Net segment profit
   before taxes      
Segment assets         17,267,954    33,112,464     31,813,967   82,194,385         1,736,960    83,931,345
      
Segment liabilities         33,858,663    33,091,847         177,386   67,127,896         3,155,953   70,283,849 
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29. Related Party Balances and Transactions

A party is related to the Bank of Nova Scotia - Guyana Branch if:

i. Directly or indirectly the party
 • controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Bank ;
 • has an interest in the Bank  that gives it significant influence over the Bank ; or 

 • has joint control over the Bank.

ii. The party is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank of Nova Scotia - Guyana Branch. 

iii. The party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (ii) above.

iv. The party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Bank of Nova Scotia - 
Guyana Branch, or any company that is a related party of the Bank.

A number of banking transactions have been entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. 
These transactions were conducted at market rates, on commercial terms and conditions, except for certain 
loans made available to officers.   
 
Related party transactions include but are not limited to the following:

• Data processing and information technology support
• Technical and management services
• Operations support
• Transaction processing support.

 
 Outstanding balances

 2021 2020
Loans, investments and other assets  

Directors and key management personnel 241,895 187,927
Bank of Nova Scotia and other related entities 9,365,074 8,014,135

 9,606,969 8,202,062

Deposits and other liabilities  

Directors and key management personnel 58,352 77,508
Bank of Nova Scotia and other related entities 10,295 36,107
 
 68,647 113,615

Interest and other income  

Directors and key management personnel 6,902 7,167
Bank of Nova Scotia and other related entities 17,077 73,223

 23,979 80,390

Interest and expenses  

Directors and key management personnel 457 322
Bank of Nova Scotia and other related entities 595,545 577,104

 596,002 577,426
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Key management comprises individuals responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Bank of Nova Scotia – Guyana Branch  

  

 2021 2020
Key management compensation

Short term benefits 166,836 174,204 

30. Events after the Reporting Date
There are no events occurring after this statement of financial position date and before the date of approval of 
these financial statements by Country Manager (ag) that require adjustment to or disclosure in these financial 
statements.


